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ABSTRACT

The Phase I archaeological survey reported herein was conducted at the
site of a 9.5 acre parcel of land known as the 01d Ford Plant property
on the waterfront in Alexandria, Virginia. Located at the corner of
Franklin and South Union Streets, the parcel is scheduled for develop-
ment by Cook Inlet Region, Inc. The investigation was undertaken by
John Milner Associates, Inc. to assist in compliance with Section 106 of
the National Historic Préservation Act of 1966, as amended. The project
area i1s all made 1and, the major portion of which is comprised of a
Tate eighteenth century wharf with twentieth century 'additions.
Documentary research and studies of settlement location for prehistoric
and historic sites indicated that historic archaeological resources may
exist 1n the project area. - An evaluation of the degree of previous
disturbance in combination with the background research revealed that:
two areas have the potential ‘to contain evidence of shipbuilding
activities that had taken place on the surface of the wharf in the
Tatter part of the nineteenth century. It was also determined that two
different kinds of resources from earlier periods may exist beneath the
surface of the wharf: the wharf structure itself, and artifacts in the
f111 of the wharf. It is recommended that additional documentary and
archaeological investigations be undertaken in order to determine
whether properties eligible for the National Register of Historic Places
exist within the project area. :
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1.0 INTRCDUCTION

1.1 Purposes and Goals of the Investigation

The project reported herein consisted of a Phase I archaeological survey
of the site commonly known as the 0l1d Ford Plant, in A1éxandr1a,‘
Virginia (Figurevi). Cook Inlet Region, Inc. (CIRI), which*inténds to.
develop the property, engaged John Milner Associates, Inc. to conduct
the survey-of this property»to assist in compliance with Section 106 of
the National Historic Presefvafion Act of 1966, as amended. CIRI
acquired the properf§ from the General Services Administration (GSA).
Since .the sale of  this property is considered a Federal Action under the
1966 Act, and therefore subject to Section 106 procedures, GSA requjred'

the consideration of cultural resources which might be Tocated on the

property.

The purpose of fhe»surVey was to 1§cate and identify archaeo1ogica1‘
reéources potentially eligible for the National Régister of Historic
Places which might be affected by the pfopos;d deve]opment and to
develop a series of prioritized alternatives, as appropriate, to afford
such resources further consideration. Following a description of the -
ﬁrcdect area and the'proposed.deveiopment. subsequent repori sections
.provide the prehistoriévand h1storic cultural contexts, describe the
methods and results of the survey, offer preliminary evaluations of
* significance of identified and potential archaeologfcal resources,
assess the dégree of disturbance 1ikely to result from the proposed

development, and offer recommendations for further action.



1.2 Description of the Project Area

The project area is a parcel of land of approximately 95 acres located
on the southern end of fhe Alexandria waterfront east of the
intersection of Franklin and Uﬁion Streéts (Figures 1 and 2). A portion
of the proberw is occupied by two adjacent buﬂdfngs.' The oné nearest
't;he intersection is a 1943 building constructed by the Federal
Government. The second and larger building is a plant built by~the Ford
Motor Company in 1932, which is commonly known as the "01d Ford Plant.”
While a parking area occup1e-s the major portion of the remainder of the
parcel, there are a]s& a boiler ‘buﬂding near the center of the plant,

some underground tanks, and a water tower.

The north and east sides of the property are surrounded by water. To .
the west is Union Street and the mainland. The Vsouth side is bordered
by Jones Point Park, a parcel of twentieth century made land covered
with small treesr and shrubs. As detailed below, the 01d Ford Plant

property 1s made land and was originally built as a wharf.

13Qascﬂpﬂm1_o.f_th.e_Empnsad_Un.der1aking

A]though specific plans have not been finalized, the pre’liminary plans
for deve]opment are to construct a series of town houses on the area
current)y used as a parking lot. The boiler structure and other
features, and possibly the 1943 Federal Buflding, will be removed. The
. new construction will be at grade, on pile foundatfons. Utilities will

be located underground and a new sewer system will be constructed. It



is also anticipated that a marina may be cut into the east side of the

property.



2.0 METHODS AND PROCEDURES

This fnvestigation focused on a review of existing 1riformat10n.
Repo-sftor'ies visited or consulted include the Alexandria Library. Llioyd
House; the Department of Planning and Community Deve’]opm_eﬁt and the
Engineering and Design Division of the Department of Transpbr_tation and
Environmental Services, Alexandria; the Library of Congress Geography
and Map Room; the Alexandria Archaeology Office of Historic Alexandria
(AAC); the Virginian Room of the Arlington County CaHtr‘é'l Libr.ary; the
| ‘Land Records Room, Alexandria Courthouse; the National Archives; and the
~ Martin Luther King Branch 6f the District of Columbia Public Library. A
~variety of unpublished as well as pubHshed sources were examined,
including archaeological reports on.Alexandria and other waterfront
cities, local and special ized .h'lstor'l'es, new spaper articles, and
historic méps and-atlases. A deed search was undertaken to 1dentify
past property> owners and to determine the changes in the boundaries Aof
propert1es. withiﬁ the .projecf area. - For prehistoric resources, the -site
f1les of the ARD were reviewed. Pub'H.s.:he_d and unpublished archaeol ogical

reports were also examined.

A wide range . of afchaeo]ogicé] {nformation was collected to deve‘l op a
" model of ‘prehistor‘lc s‘l‘_te location. Hjstoric maps were the primary
documents uéed to determine the presence 'of structures or other cultural
features on the surface of the wharf. | Comparative material was also

drawn from other waterfront archaeological sites and from historical



O —

descriptions to predict the presence of archaeological resources under

the surface of the wharf,



3.0 CULTURAL BACKGROUND

3.1 Prehistoric Cultural Context

3.1.1 pulthre History |

A summary of the archaeology of the Potomac Yalley 1n‘thefv1c1n1ty of
Waéh1ngton, D.C. and Alexandria has been produced by Humphrey and
Chambers -(1975). :They rév1eu the results of early pioneers in the
archaeo1ogy'of the area, such as William Henry Holmes, who worked at the
turn of the century, and of more recénf reséarch which bégan 1n the
1930s and has continued to thé present. The discussion that follows is
taken from Cheek, Meyer and Zatz (1986) and is baséd upon the above
réference'and the work of Carbone (1976); Cheek, Friedlander and Warnock
(1983); and Gardner (1982); and Johnson (1981). The cultural periods
deffned for the Potomac River parallel those in other areas of the East
Coast, and include: Pa1eo—Ind1ar; (11,000 to 8,000 B.C.), Eal;ly Archaic
(8,000 to 6,500 B.C.), Middle Archaic (6,500 to 3,000 B.C.), Late
Arqhaic/Tréhsitiona] (3,000 to 1,000 B.C.), Early Woodland (1,000 to 506
B.C.), Middle Woodland (500 B.C. to A.D. 900) and Late Woodland (A.D.

900 to 1,500).

‘A hunting and gathering or foraging economy was characferiétiévof atl
prehfstoric cu1tura1 periods except the Late Woodland. During the
latter périod subsisténce was based, at least 1in part, on the
~ cultivation of domestficated plants. Although tﬁe.earlier socfeties
ut11izedla hunting and gathering economy, thére were considerable

differences in the kinds of protein sources exploited and in the



intensfty with which particular resources were collected. ‘During tkhe
Paleo~Indian and Earr]y Archaic periods the subsistence pattern seems to
have concentrated on larger game animals. The relatively small human
populations lived in bands t'hat eAxp‘l ofted re'lati‘ve'ly’ extensive
territories. - Vegetative sources of food were not 1gno}~éd and probably
contributed a considerable portion of the caloric fntake. "Howevel;,‘ it
is probable that game movements were more important in determining the
schedu'le,‘of group behavior than was the seasonal availability of plants.
It is also 1ikely that the seééoha"l round of act1v1ty was at least
' partially dgterm'i néé by .aA need to reside near'debosits of particular
types of fine-grained stoné which were necessal?); for the: manufacture of

tools and weapons (Gardner 1980).

Although the basic adaptive strategy seems to have been the same during
the Pa]eo-_Indian aﬁd Early Archaic periods, game sources may havé been
diffefent. | During the Pal eo-Indian stage, Pleistocene fauna such as
mammoth, mastodon, and caribou may have been the focus of the hunt. At
the end of the Pleistocene the vegetation in the eastern United States
changed as the climate grew warmer and the glaciers retreated. As a
result of these énvironmenta‘i changes, perhaps exacerbated by over-
hunting, much of the large Pleistocene fauna became extinct. - More
solitary an‘lfﬁa‘l s» such és deer and other smaller game became the only
avaflable méat sources. However, some scholars (e.g.» Gardner 1980)
belfeve that even the Paleo-Indfan groups hunted primarily deer and

moose rather than caribou or mammoth,



During the Middle Archaic, subsis?enceuséems to have been focused more
on seasonal plant resources and on their more intensive exploitation.
This is ref]ected in the 1arger range of environments fn which sites are
found and the appearance of tools spec1f1ca11y,made for plant
process1ng.‘-The large numbef_of sites attributed to'thfs period implies

a substantfal- fncrease in population.

The next three cultural perfods (the Late Archafc/frénsitiona]. the
Early and Middle Woodland) can be considered tbgether (Cheek,
Fried1ander and Holt 1983:71) as has been done for other areas of the

Mid-Atlantic reg1on (Custer 1984),

The deciduous Eaéteﬁp Woodland environment had become esta51ished by the
beginning of this period, and a wide~ranging adaptéfion to 1t was
developed by the indigenous societies of the region. The subsistencse
economy was béséd én an {ntensive exploitation of the flora and fauna of
the wood]gnds as_ye]] as r1v§r1ne and estuarine reéodrces. Sea level
continued'to rise and gradua11y leve1edﬁoff. creéting'salt-'and
brackish-estuarine marshes’attractive to migrating birds and suitable
for ~the development of exteﬂsive shel1fish beds. Anadromous fish such
as shad and herring trave1ed:upstream seasonally to find fresh water in
!

which they could spawn, creating large-scale fish runs. Seasonal camps

along the Potomac were established to exploit this resodfce.

Seasonality was a primary determinant of economic organization through-
| _

out this period, and there wias a great deal of variation in settlement



pattern and seasona'l Méroup movement dependent on local patterns of
resource distribution and density, and on local responses to population
increase (Gardner 1982), In@the Middle Atiantic region, it is 1ikely
that major aggregatioms of‘pof)ulation woiﬂd have occurred seasonaﬂy' on

the major str_'eamsb_during the annual migrations of fish. -

The Late'-Archaic/Tt.'ansit'!ena'li and Early Woodland periods witnessed the
introduction of pottery. It '15’ however, unlikely that the pattern of
adaptation changed A.signifi‘::ant'lywith the adoption of ceramic
technology. Most archaeol ogiists agree that, during both the Early and
Middle Woodland ‘1n the Coastal Plain and the Piedmont, subsistence was
based primarily _oh 1ntensiv}e hunt1ng‘ and gathering strategies. .There
may have been some manipu’latien ef wild plants to increase their yields,
but there is no fifm evidenee for this, nor for the establ 1shment of
true horticulture with actua’iﬁ plant domesticates 1n the Coastal Plain

unt11. approximately AD. 900,

Late Woodland (after A.D. 960) .soci',eties ‘supported themselves with
hort1cu'lture based on the cu'lt1vat1on of corn, beans, and squash.
Hunting, gathering. and fish1ng st111 played major roles in the
subsistence economy ‘but- were now scheduled: around “the requirements of
the horticultural cycle. People tended to 11ve for most of the year in
semi{-permanent vﬂ'lages (1. e.; villages that were moved only every
generation.or so), and that w;jere often stockaded, at 1east in the area -
at and above the Fall Line (l%otter 1980). Villages of this type were

w itnessed by Captain John Smith when he explored the Potomac in the



early part of the seventeenfh century. Contact between Europeans and
the local Indians 1n-northef% Virginia started with the exploration of
the Potomaé By John Smith,iﬁ 1608 (Feest 1978) and became mbre intense
by the mid-1600s. By 1700, %ost of tﬂe tribes in northern Virginia and
u

n dispersed. -Some had. been placed on

I

southern Maryland had bee

reservations, while others h&d left the region altogether (Feest 1978).

]

.3.1.2 Previous Research L
The record of known prehisto#ic archaeological sites in Alexandria, and
to phe north ahd south of th% city on the west side of the Potomac, is
reviewed below. The purpoSé is not only to determine if prehistoric
sites have been previously 1d;nt1fied Qithin the project area, but also
to collect data necessary &or é preliminary model of the factors:
affecting prehistoric sett]e&ent patterns in this area. Such a model
will -allow the prediction of whether there is a high, medium, or 1ow
probabiiity of $1tes being 1oéated within the project area. |

Information on the location.of prehistoric sites 1n énd about Alexandria
comes from several sources. é map by John Smith (Feest 1978: Figure 2)
récordéd siteé on both side% of the Potomac. Four were noted on the
west s;de of the river in th% vicinity of‘A]exandrié. From south to |
north these were called Taéxenent, Manassingakent, Assaomeck and
Namoraughquend. Beéausé of?the problems fnherent in superimposing
Smith's map on modern maps;?there have been disagreements about the’

exact locations of the sett]e@ents. "Many scholars follow Mooney (1889)

and place Tauxenent at Mt.!Vernon (see for example Powell 1963).
. i . .



However, Feest (1978: Figure‘é)has recent1y placed 1t on the Occoquan
River south of Mt. Vernon. Mébney and Feest both place Namoraughquend
near the modern 14th Street Eridge (formerTy'known as Long Bridge),
while Humphery and Chambers (fé75) place it further upstream. The only
v111age'that might have beenéclose to Alexandria is Assaomeck (Mooney
1889), but Feest places it south of Hunting Creek. In summary, the
precise locations of these co&tact period sites are unknown, but it is

unlikely that any of them were located in Alexandria or within the

project area.

A survey of the earlfer archaeé]ogica] 1iterature revealed that only two
sites were recorded for the area in the vicinity of;Aﬂexandria. and none
actua]iy from within A]exandria. Proudfit's (1889) map of the location
" of known sites included one Horth of Alexandria, on the site of the
modern National Afrport. The site was apparently located above the
mouth of Four Mile Run which enters a small bay on the south side of the
airport. The map does not note any sites close to Alexandria, although
it does include some sites oppos1te the city on the east bank of the
river. An archaeo]ogfca1 base map prepared by the National Park Service

(Powell 1963), which rough]y 1ocated known sites in the Wash1ngton. D.C.

vicinity, also fails to note any sites in the area.

Modern archaeological survey ofﬁthe City of Alexandria was not initiated

until the Alexandria urban archaeology program was founded in the late

1970s. This survey, partia]]jjreported by Henry (1983) and on file at

Alexandria Archaeology, Offiee of Historic Alexandria, recorded 22

11



locations of preh1stor1c sites. However, all but one of these are
located well ‘inland. The exception, Site 44 AX 53, was identffied by a
collector at Jones Point, 1mmed1ate’|y south of the project area. Ceramic
and chic mater1a1 recovered during recent testing at the site suggests

occupation during the Late4 Archaic and Middle Woodland periods

"(LeeDecker and Fried1ander 198!4:35).
. , t -

1

ii
South of Alexandria, between Great Hunting Creek and Little Hunting
!

Creek, thirteen prehistoric sites have also been identified (Inashfma
1985:21).'* A recent survey of ?the Mt. Yernon Memorial Highway (Inashima
1985) reported prel 1m1néry 'I_:esit‘_ipg of four of these sites and 1dent1fied‘
an add1t1ona1 one. From north?’ to south these sites are 44 FX 723, 44 FX

/ .
713, 44 FX 618, and 44 FX 604. Collections exist in the Smithsonian

Museunm of Natural History for sites FX 723, and FX 604. No detailed

information was presented by ﬁnash1ma on the eight other sites recorded

along this shore. They are s%mpjy 1isted as WOodTand Village, Archaic

camp, mul ti-components1te. ori’f undefined prehistoric site.
_ i‘

o

Co'l'lect1ons from FX 723 were made in the late 1880s and 18905 as part of

a survey of the Potomac made 1by ‘the Smithsonian and in the.1940s by a
co]]ector V(Inashfma 1985: 65). Artifacts included both hafted bifaces
and ceramic sherds. ' The b1faces belong to types dating from the Middle
Archaic to the Late Wood'l and,‘ mostly from the Late Archaic. The three

groups of sherds from the co‘l;]ection can, on the basis of temper and
decoration, be tentatively 1dent1f1ed as Accokeek Creek, Mockley and

I
b
Potomac Creek wares. These ceramic types span, respectively, the Early,

Lo12



Middle, and Late Woodland periods. The testing by Inashima recovered
"Popes Creek-1ike Net Impressed Sherds" which also date to the Early

Woodland period.

The newTy recorded site, FX 713, contained Early Wood]and Pope's Creek
ceramics. Unlike the other sites tested 1t was characterized by a
functionally diverse 11thic tool kit and had no tempora]]yvdfagnostic

bifaces.

-The third site. FX 618, was co]]ected by Judge W. Graham in the middle
of .the twentieth century. but no record of the coT]ection was found.
Testing recovered shell-tempered Mockley sherds and sand-tempered, net
impressed (probably Pope's Creek) sherds from, respectively, the Middle
and Early Woodland periods. |
Co11ect10nsAmade'by Graham were avai]ab1e for Site FX 604, and revealed
a sequence from the Ear]y Archa1c through the Late Wood1and based on-
-biface- Tfthics.A: ‘ Subsequent- archaeologica] testing recovered Late~
Woodland pottery of Potomac Creek (A.D. 1300 through the seventeenth
century) and Yeocomico (A;D. 1510-1690) wares (Egloff and Potter

1982:112-114).

»Asvindicated above, knowledge of the types of prehistoric archaeological
sites and their periods of occupation in the Alexandria area is not very
detailed. Very little nodern work has been done, and that which has

been undertakeﬁ has been hampered by the intense development that has

13



disturbed and/or destroyed sites. The indiscriminate collection of
sites, beginning in at least the late 1800s and continuing to the
present, is another -factor which, by removing many difagnostic artifacts

from sites has hampered their modern study.

3.1.3 Prehistoric Site Locations

It is the purpose .of the following section to br1ef1y outline and
discuss the factors wh1ch are prime indicators for the location of
prehistor1e sites. These common]y used variab]es 1nc1ude the presence
of water, topography.(landjform and;elevation),-and_density and
"diversity of food reeourées;z'The area from whichfepecifie'site and
environmental information is drawn is the same area reviewed under
Section 3.1.2 (from Four Mile Creek north of A1exandr1a‘to Little
Hunting Creek south of Alexandria). More general information was drawn

from the Middle Atlantic region as a whole.

CL e e

Archaeo1og1ca1 research throughout the Middle" At1ant1c region has
revealed that, while prehistor1c s1tes are found {n other settings as
well, sites are very frequently found at the confluence of two streams.eé
The Potomac River, which bordersvtﬁe entire area under review, 1is joihed\é
at several points by both Iafge end small streams flowing from the west.fe
Four Miie Creek, Great Hunting Creek, and Little Huntihg Creek are the
larger streams.  Between Four Mile Creek and Great Hunting Creek, the
oniy water course noted on the historic and modern maps reviewed 1s that
at Ralph's Gut, also known as the Orinocco Marsh, at the north end of

Alexandria. South of Great Hunting Creek a small stream feeds a marsh.

14



South of thét mar‘sh; there are four intermittent streams and a spring
before .t_he mouth of Little Hﬁnt‘lng Creek is reached. of 1:het thirteen
sites south of Great Hunti ﬁg'Creek all but three are within 500 ‘feet of
an additional water.'source (Inashima 1985). North of Great Hunting
Creek, two sites, AX 53 or; Jones Point’and-the village site on Four Mile

Creek, are also at a stream juncture.on the Potomac.: ..

Topography is a useful indicator .of high and low probability aré.as for '
prehi storic site Tocations becaqs_e"often sites are located on particular
landforms :1n much hivgher frequencies than on otﬁers. Bluffs 1ine m.ost‘
of the shore ﬁﬁdér_ é§n51 deration, and become 1Vncr__ea‘sing'lvy hfgherffroﬁy
south of Ralph's Gut t6 L1tt1e'Hunf1 ng Creek. Ther'g 1s' a "beach" at the
base of the bluffs of varying,' but relatively riarf'éw. width. - ~._North of
Great Hﬁnti ng Creek, the 1and inland from the P'otomacdsAa relatively
' f’l‘a'l;.;'dr]dissvec_ted terrace approx‘tmate'l).'- aAVmﬂe wide and between 10 and
40 f_ee_tf_1n,e'_'l'ueya"tiqn. ~Higher elevations, between 30 and ZSO‘f_ee_t; |
ch(aracterﬁ.e. _f‘he__'.rr»nor’e, ﬁeévﬂy‘ djsse(ct-‘ed inland ‘,ar.ea between ‘Greaf
Hﬁnti ng Creék‘a’n_'d jL’itt'Ie Hunting Créﬂac_ak'.. "Th1s.terrjlain conti nues inl and
| for at least a mﬂé._ Whﬂe on_'ly one water course dra1ns the interior of
the Tand north of Qreat Huqti ng C_r'éek. seve_ra] drain fhe area to its

south.
Only  four of the prehistoric sites noted above are known to be located

at elevations of 10 feet a.s.l. or lower--AX 53 on Jones Point, the site

at the mouth of Four Mile Run, and both FX 31 and kFX 723 near the marsh

1 5



south of Great Hunting Creek. The other reported sites are on the

bluffs at or above 35 feet a.s.l.

The presenceiof specific food resources or a combination of resources is
anotﬁer important factor affecfing'site Jocations. Withfn this
reasonably small area, there are few, but'possib1y'sigh1f1cant.
variations in the envirdnment. One source of var1abf11ty.1n the
available resources {s the presence of wetland fpod résources around the
‘mouth of Four Mile Run, at Ralph's Gut, and at the wetlands south of the
mouth of Great:Hunt1n§ Creek. Besides various_plants and animals usedv
for food and raw:mafer1a1 that ére available year round, these areas
attract migratory waterfowl during the spring and fall. It is not‘known
whether these specific wetlénds wére in existence in the prehi;tdrfc
past or 1f, as is more 11kely, others existed in place of or in addition
to the wetlands of today. Inashima (1985) found considerable evidence
of shdfel1ne chahge on historic maps,‘tnc1uding both additions to and
erosion of the shére]iné; fFurthermore.‘vasAmany‘héve pointed out, major

changés océurred to fhe fiVerine”snyemsrat the end of the<giac1a1
period as sea level gradually rose. it waé not until approximately 4500

years ago that the riverine environment approximated modern conditions.

Another seasonally abundant resource is the runs of anadromous fish.
H1§tor1c sources mention that some locales were particu1ar1y'godd
fishefies. However, historic fishing techno1égyAhas not been compared
to preh1§tor1c technology and> therefore, it is unknown whether these

same locales would have attracted prehistoric groups. It 1s also

16



uncertain {if the brehistofic fishing technology would have been
effective everyﬁhere along the rivef or only in a feﬁ restricted
locafions; | |

The topographic differences between the area immediately adjac;nt to
Alexandria and the area to its south discuﬁsed above may also have
affected the available resources for preﬁistoric peoples. The greater
number of streams in the.up1ands to the south created a fine grained
mosaic of uplang and rjverfne resource zones. North, around Alexandria,
the up1an&s are more ﬁniform. The adaptational values of the greater
resource diversity in the south is not precisely known because detailed
biomass studies have not been perforﬁed in the/Midd1e Atlantic region.l
However, the greater number of habitat zones, even if repetitious, may
have created an area of more abundant resources in the south. The
concentration of such resources may help explain the larger number of
' sites‘(lB)»foundAa1on94the shore of the Potomac bétweéﬁ the two Hunting

Creeks and the two sites found in the Alexandria area.

In summary, this review of'the.shore-jine environment and prehistory of
the Potomac River on ejther side of the project area has documented that
sites are assocfated with stréam confluences and are generally at hfgher
eTevations adjacenflto areas of greater inland environmental diversity.
Those sites at lower é1evat1ons are adjacent to a spec1f1c4food resource
such as wetlands (FX 31, FX 723, and Four M{le Run) or are at the mouth
‘ofva stream (AX 53 and Four Mile Run). It must be pointed out that this .

analysis is based on the assumption that the historic development of
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Alexandria and adjacent 1and has not biased our understanding of site
locations through the destruction or burial of'prehistoric sites. While
it is uncerfain how accurate this éssumption is, 1t is an assumption
that must be made. Given this caveat, it can be- concluded that the
project area i1tself has none of the characteristics of areas with high
probability for prehisfor1c sités. The project area 1s'§dJacent to
.up1ands of relatively less environmentaT diversity; it has no additional
" water source joining the Potomac; it is beTow lovfeet a.s.l.; and it is
not adjacent to knoyﬁ wef]ands.“ Accordingly, the prqject area is
predicfed to have a 16w probability for the preseﬁce'of a prehistoric

site.

3.2 Historic Cultural Context

3.2.1 History of Aﬂexgndr1a |

The area which 15 °now the City of Alexandria was originally part of a
700 acre_tract'awardéd°1nva*1654 patent‘tofMérgaret Brent,_former1y of
St. Mary's City, MarY]hnd. "Thé Bfeﬁt'fam11y was thp earliest English
landholder 1n this area of Virginia bordering on the Potomac. Margaret,
with her brothers and sister, ;ccumulated over 9,610 acres of Virginia
Tand in the mid-seventeenth cenfury. The patent for the tract fn which
the site of Alexandria was 1nc1uded was reissued in 1662. It was the
center of a title disputé.in 1669. The land was eventua11y purchased by
a Scottish merchant, John Alexander, for 600 pounds of tobacco. He was,
however, required to pay an additional 10,500 pounds of tobacco in 1674

for a élear title (Shomette 1985:16).
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In 1682, Cadwallader Jones established a trading post on the point of
land which would come to‘be called Jones Pojnt (Shomette 1985:17).
Indian trading sobn gave way to the'grovth of plantation society as
large areas of land were settlied on both sides of the Potomac. Tbbacco
and other cash crops raised by these plantations was collected and
inspected for shipment at a port designated by the Virginia Assembly in
1724. The site of ‘this port was above the cdnf]uence of Great Hunting
Creek and the Potomac, where John Alexander, his brother Phillip, and
Hugh West had estab1ished‘a»settlemént. Ph1]i1p A1e¥ander's "quarters"
were located west of the project area, on the bluffs above the river
(Figure 3). In 1732 Hugh West's property beéame the site for the
tobacco warehouse. West's Point was at the foot of modern Oronoco
Street, and the 1ocatfon of the warehouse at West's Point was
particularly amenable to the growing tobacco trade. The anéhorage was
the last hajor one before the fall ﬁine of the Potomac, 16 miles
uprivér{ and roads from the west and northwest converged hére.' The
combination of!acceQS‘to the prbductive‘interior'as-we]] as ‘deep water
navigation pr§v§d to be important toAfhe future of-AiexAndria (Shomette

In 1749 the Yirginia Assembly }assed.an "Act for Erecting a Town at
Hunting Creek Wéréhouse in the Céunty of Fairfax." Sixty acres of laﬁd
were surveyed by John West, with the assistance of his afde, the young
George Washington. Like many new towns in the coloniess Alexandria was
laid out on a grid pattern, eight streeté running east-west intersected

by three north-south streets. Point Lumley, now the foot of Duke
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Street, formed the southern edge of the town. As Alexandria grew, land
was annexed to the north, south, and west. To the east the arc of opeh
water or shoals bethen Duke and Ofonoéo Streets was infilled to create
more 1énd for wharves and warehouses. Tobacco, and later wheat, formed

the economic -base for the expansion of Alexandria (Shomette 1985:24).

During the Revolutionary War, Alexandria was spared the destruction of
many other cities, and 1t was a logistical supply center for the
continental armies. Alexandria continued to prosper as a seépoft after
the Revolution, becoming a part -of the District of Columbia from 1801 to
1849, Seyeré] factors contributed to a period of decline after 1820,
including "the 1803-1810 yellow fever epidemics, the Jeffersonian
Embargo, a fire in 1810, and the effect of pirates preying on the

shipping trade"™ (Miller n.d.:12).

The town again became a supply center during the Civil War for the Union
army.,=A.Shfpp1ng boom'deve1oped after ‘the Civil War)‘and-shfpbu11d1ng
and shipping goods and supplies continued to grow until after World War

I.

3.2.2 Deye1opmeht of the Alexandria Waterfront

As noted earlier, the Alexandria waterfront began as a cluster of
warehouses on West's Point, at the foot of the present Oronoco Street.
This settlement was referred to as Belhaven, in honor of John Ham{lton,
the second baron of Belhaven, Scotland (Shomette 1985:23). The first

change to the waterfront landscape was the gradual infilling of the area -
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between West's Point and Point Lumley with additional wharves and ware-
houses. Infilling also occurred from south of Duke Street to the

southernmost point of the waterfront, at the foot of Franklin Street.

Development of the waterfront was undertaken both by private lot owners
and the Trustees of the City of Alexandria. Owners of waterfront lots
claimed the right to fi1l in the river and build warehouses. This right

was protected by an act of the Trustees of Alexandria:

Every purchaser of riverside lotts [sic] by the
‘terms of the sale was to have the benefit of
extending satd lotts into the river as far as they
shall think proper without any obstruction from
Water Street (Miller n.d.:6). ‘

The town agreed to improve the public wharf at West's Point in 1761 and
appofnted a local builder to keep it in good repair. In 1771 the

trustees t'pok .over: the wharf and begﬁn imposing dot:k‘lng fees on ships |
not doing.business at;the‘pub11é_warehouse. ‘Most of tﬁe-éargo.at this

time was lumber, sh1ngles.,énd oyster shells (Miller n.d.:7).

In thé}l?BOs Alexandria became a major port in the Middle Atlantic area
for'fge exportation of flour and hemp, and in 1784 it was the only port
on the Potoméc designated as a port of entry for foreign vessels.
During this growth period of 1780-1800 Water (now Lee) and Union
Streets were gridded and lafd out. The bluffs above the river were cut

down and the earth used as fi11 to create Union Street in the cove

between Duke and Oronoco Streets (Miller n.d.:9).
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One of the prob1ems‘fac1ng Alexandria was the increasing sedimentation
of its poft. The outer part qf the bay contained shoals or mud flats,
as shown on various early maps of the toﬁﬁ (Shomette 1985). The inner
harbor began to si]f up» and sh6a11ng Cont1nued to be a problem into the
nineteenfh century. Wharves were extended énd dredéing waé attempted,
but.by 1908 only a few wharves could maintain access to deep water

(Shomette 1985:290).

The last major'episode of infilling along the Alexandria waterfront
occurred during the years 1910-1912, when the Army Corps of Engineers
fi1led in Battery Cove for a shipbuilding sfte. Battery Cove is located

from the foot of Franklin Street south to Jones Point.

The development of the Alexandria waterfront seems to have been typical
of most seaports colonized by the Eng]ish; Infilling and extending_
substantia]ﬁwharves into the river as long as there was available room
waS'the:pattern'pf;growth at_othér cities such as Newport, Boston,.
Norfo]k..th]ade]ph1a, and otﬁers‘(Huey 1984:27)., New York, with fts
Dutch 1nfluence, began by constructing an ordeted series of slips and
canals. In the late eighteenth century New York?began to conform to the
style of wéterfront development of other east ;bast séaports by using

" projecting piers and wharyes;

A distinction should be made between piers, docks, and wharves. ' The
terms are used interchangeably today, but traditionally wharves were

solid structures built of wood and filled in with earth and stone.
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Piers or docks referred to 6pen structures or platforms on piles (Wilson

and Moran 1980:5-6). This difference {s indicated in a legislative

petition in 1785 by reference to construction of piers and docks 1in

front of the wharf (Kefth et al. 1785:4).

Alexandria was t)‘/pic-a] of other Middle Atlantfc and northeastern
seaports in its 'pafterﬁs of ﬁ'aterfront expansion as well (Artemel et al.
1985) The waterfront was created during the initial period of growth
(1749-1810), after which it stabilized until the period of industrial
expansfon in the ni néteénth century. Alexandria em»evrged as a major port
in the Middle At'lahtfc; area during tﬁe efghteenth and early nineteenth
centuries, but was eclipsed by larger and more complex seaports after
1830. A revival of shipbuilding after the Civil War brought new 1ife to
the waterfront, but it never regafned its qrigina1 importance (Mﬂ‘ler

n.d.; Cressey et al 1982).

3.2.3 Hi story of tﬁe Project Area. ' .

Thé land on whﬂ:h the project area is vs‘ltuated was.‘.creafed between 1782
and 1785 by riverside 1ot ow nérs 1nf1ﬁ1ng the area to the east of the
intersection of South Unfon and Franklin Streets. The precise location
of the _drig‘l nal shoreline in the project area is unknown, but early maps
(e.g. Figure 3) indicate that it could have projected beyond the present
location of Union Street. A petition sent in 1785 to the House“of
Delegates in Richmond by the property owners describes how Jarﬁes Kefth,
John Harper, Charles Simms, and Level Powell began to extend Franklin

Street four hundred feet into the river, creating a wharf, which came to
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be called Keith's Wharf, and their intention to construct "c'ommodious

pfers and .docks in front of their wharf for the reception of shipping"
(Keffh et al. 1785:4). Apparently, the town of A'lexandr‘l; had
complained to the legié‘lature that the extension of Franklin Street was
only 50 feet wide, where/,as it was 100 feet wide west.of Unibn Street.

The petition cited abov‘e is 1n‘re_sponse to these complaints.

Figure 4, a map published in 1804, shows the town of Alexandria and the
names of the wharfs. The reclaimed area at the foot of Franklin Streét

can be clearly “se"en. ~The configuration of this extension is

_questionable, however, since all subsequent maps in the nineteenth

century show a more irregular outline, with less land area than that
shown in the 1804 map. Although the reclaimed area could have eroded.
éway in the nineteenth century, 1t is rﬁore li-ke'ly that the 1804 map
depicts an fdealized version of the area. | A

In an 1845 ‘.map}'pub'l ished by Maskell C. Ewing (Figure 5), the Fr.'ank'l in
Street extensfon onto-the wharf is 1n"t§rsected By a créss street, -
originally ca'l]’e‘d Madison Street 1n some deeds, but 1ater changed to
Strand. The "mad‘}e Tand" seen her;e is cont.ained entirely \ch1n the
broject.area. As can be seen from the series of maps in Figures 6
fhrough 8, the _ouf'Hne of the project are'a remafned almost unchanged
from the 1840s until the construction of the Ford Plant {n1932. Two
p‘lérs. however, were extended into the river during the occupation of
the site by the Alexandria Mariné Rafilway and Ship Buflding Works

(Figure 8), and extended almost to the eastern edge of the project area.
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The area south of the boundary of the origina1 landf 111 appears to have
been created by the 1910-1912 Battery Cove landfill (Figure 9). A 1943
aerfal photograph in the City of A]exandrfa Transportation and
Environmental Sewices.Office c'leér'ly shows the‘q'lvid‘lng ‘11ne between
the original wharf fi111 and the fil11 deposited in the'eaﬂy twentieth
century. In 1932 the F-;ord Motor Company extended a concrete wharf 300
feet beyond the shoreline into the river, -and constructed an automobile

- shipping and assembly center.

Land use in the proje;ct area has been.primarﬂy commercial or industrial
in nature. However, Phillip Alexander's settlement on the bluffs above
the project area shows early residential activity in the vicinity. The
first references to the project area document the wharf buflding 1in
1785. The Alexandria Gazette reported on September 15, 1785, "a laborer
on Messrs; _ZHarper"A'and Keith's wharf lost his 11fe by the falling of the
bank", Thié .exppalrent'ly. }‘eferS'*l;o the bluffs above the river that were
being cut down to provide f1ill 'f<‘>r the wharves. A niap presented to the
Circuit Court of‘ the District of Columbia for the County of Alexandria
on March 4, 1804 {dentifies the wharf at the foot of Franklin Street as
Keith's Wharf (rFigure 4). In Figure 7, Keith's Wharf 1s stil1
identified as such 1n 1841. The only commodity documented as being sold |
~ from Kefth's Wharf 1s fish. On March 30, 1804 the Alexandria Gazette
reported that the superintendent of police "assign as a place for the
sale of fresh shad and herrings, from and after the first day of April
next, the wharf of Mr. James Kefth, a 11ttle to the south of the present

harbour of this town..."

25



A survey of the Alexandria Gazetie for fhrée years fo1low1ng this
announcement reveals no other advertisements for»Keith's wﬁarf. Keith
did apply, however, for a license in 1804 "to keep a pub11c.ferry from
the lower point of his wharfvto the opposite shore" (Alexandria Deeds,
Liber G, p.399); A11 evidence ayaf1éb1e concerning the activities on
Keith's Wharf indicate that it was not as prominent (geographically or

economically) as thevwharves Tocated on the central waterfront.

The next major period of activity involved the Aexandria Marine Raiiway
Company, incorporated‘on’January.13, 1849, the sfxth shipyard in

Alexandria. A Marine railway is a

ramp with ties and rails for either launching or
hauling a vessel out of the water. A boat is
cradled on a carriage that runs on the ratls laid
on the ramp. The carriage also runs i{nto the water
under a boat, and the boat 1s positioned over it to
be 11fted by the carriage and pu]]ed from the water
‘_(W11son and Moran 1980: 5). : :

The purpose‘bf the Alexandria Marine Ra11way was the repafr and
refitting'of all tYpes of vessels. This yard continued to build ships,
particularly Potomgc Tongboats, pungyboatsg and schooners for more than
seventy-five years (T11p '1978:82). Al1 these vessels were pr1ﬁar11y

1oca1 commercial craft.

During the Civil War, the wharf was used as a supply depot for the Union
Army Quartermaster Corps (T{ilp 1978:181). A shipbuilding slump in the

early 1870s predicated the reorganization of the yard. Robert Portner
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of Maine became president of the Al exandria Mar‘ine Raflway and
Shipbuilding Company (Figure 8). This .company was primarily concerned
with the repair of the large coal, ice and stone schooners operating out
of Alexandria and Georgetown, but continuéd to build ships as well (T11p

1978:82) .

In 1880, John Parke Custis Agnew, a coal dealer from Alexandria
purchased the yard. The largest ship built at this yard, and the only
four-masted schooner; built on the river, was the William I. Hart. The
Hart was launched in July of 1883 with a carrying capacity of 1500 tons.
The cabins were fitted out in oak and red plush, at a total cost of over
$45,000. The first cargo carried by the Hart was a 1oad of coal bound
for Providence, Rhode Island (Alexandria Gazette July 13, 1883). 1In
-1883; Agnew and Company advertised in a business directory of Alexandria
as "retail and who'lésa'le dealers of coal, with shipping yards at
Georgetown, Alexandria and Baltimore" (Brockett and Rock 1883:118). The
address in Alexandria was 1isted as the corner of Fraﬁk'l in and South

Union Streets (Figure 10).

+

The l1ast ship Taunched from this yard was a 50-foot 1ongboat bu1'lt in
1‘917. The company became known as Grover's Raflway and prospered"_‘ during
WOﬂd Wa'r‘I. ‘It survived until 1923, when 1t was sold tc; the-ﬂG‘eorge
Wash‘1ngfon Stone Compar-\y, who in turn sold the property to the Ford
Motor Company (Tilp 1978:83; Alexandria Deeds, Liber 109, p. 70; 195, p.

241).
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The Ford occupation of the property, with the construction of an
automobile shipping terminal and factory, began the nexf major phase of
activity. In 1942, Ford sbld the property comprisi.ng the project area to
the U.S. Government. Thé extension to the west end of the Ford plant
was built 1}'\ 1943 by the government, and the éomp’l ex was used as an
annex to the Torpedo Factory. Since World War II, the property has
served various government functions, the most recent being as a surplus

equipment and records storage facility.

The specific methods by which wharves were constructed 1n the efghteenth
and ni neteehth centuries are better known for other east coast cities
than for Alexandria. One of the few references t»o wharf construction in
this city is found in the legislative petition of Ke1th_and others, .

stating that:

. ...your Petitioners...began to construct a frame to
include the street...and are now engaged in filling
it in with earth at a very heavy expense
(Keith et al. 1785:2) '

An advertisement in the Alexandria Gazette for July 12, 1785 by a wharf

buflder, David Shaon: ‘

..professes also the capability of building a
complete pile driver, one being sufficient for the
whole place, and recommends the driving of large
piles on the outside walls of - every wharf, which is
the custom in Baltimore even in the Bason [sicl;
but fs peculiarly suitable here from the steepness
with which the channel of Potomack is formed.
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The only wharf in Alexandria to be examiﬁed archaeologically 1s the
Carlyle-Dalton wharf, which exhibited the crib type of construction
documented 1ﬁ many other eastern ports (Cressey, personal communication
1986). This wharf is located at Cameron and Union Streets, fn the

center of the waterfront.

Two types of construction seem to havé been in use in the eighteenth
century: cribbing, which consisted of a "rectangular frame of logs or
sduaréd timbers notched together horizontally"™ (Wilson and Moran
1980:4), and a bulkhead system. This is probably the method used by the
wharf buflder advertising in the Alexandria Gazette. A bulkhead would
be constructed using a pile driver to sink vertical timbers, creating a
retaining wall for the stone and earth f111‘(w11son and Moran 1980:4).

It 1s not known which type of construction was used at Keith's Wharf.

Upriver at Georgetown, the Commissioners of the city specified in a

contract for the construction of a wharf in 1762 that:

The outsides...to be hewed 1oggs [sicl 12 inches
thick...braced or girded with hewed loggs 10 inches
thick of 15 feet long and dovetailed into the
outsides (Artemel and Mackie 1985:5).

This wharf would have been a crib type.

The substructure of wharves excavated in Newburyport, Massachusetts
i{1lustrate both construction techniques. Retaining walls of pilings or

boards held fil11 of earth and ballast stones at the City Wharf, while a
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. breakwater constructed 1n 1831 used a wooaen crib, floated into place
and 1oaded with stones until it sank (Faulkner ot al. 1978:36, 39;40).
Crib-constructi‘on‘ was also used 1'_n Bal timore, as documented by the
excavations at the Cheapside Wharf (Norman, personal communication

1986) .

References to the use of crib construction continue into the early
" twentieth centur;y. with 1ittle change in technology. This method was
used 1n Boston, New York and Salem, as well as in the southern colonies.
An early reference to wharf construction comes from William Byrd 1[1

1728, describing a wharf in Norfolk, Virginia:

The Method of building Wharffs [sic] here is after

the following Manner: They lay down long Pine

Logs, that reach from the Shore to the Edge of the

Channel. These are bound fast together by Cross-

Pieces.notcht [sicl into them, according to the

Architecture of the Log~Houses in North Carolina
~ (Wilson and Moran 1980:20).

‘The practice of ﬁs1ng cord wood aéfﬁ] has been documented in the
southern ;o]on1es. and seems to be the major difference between the
wharves of Ney England and the south. Stone was more readily available
in the north, and conbsequent'ly was used there more frequently as fi11

~(Wilson and Moran 1980:21).
3.2.4 Historic Land Use Patterns
The primary patterns of land use in the project area were industrial and

commeréi al, with minor amounts of domestic use as weTL The 1n1tial
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Jand use may have been a possible boat landing, serving at least the
domestic needs of Phillip Aﬂexander“sv"Quarters,“ pictured in Figure 3.
Most'of‘the land contained in the 01d Ford Plant project area was
originally creéted'about 1785 as a wharf owned and operated by James
Keith. Land use at tﬁ'ls time was primarily commercial. Use of the site
shifted_to 1ndustr1a1.aftér 1849, with occupation by the Alexandria
Marine Raflway and Ship Building Company. A break in its industrial use
océurred during the Civil War, when the wharf served as a supply depot
for the Unién Army Quartermaster Corps. After the Civi} War, the
propérty was owned by a series of industrial and marine-related
proprietors. The Ford Mofor’Cdmﬁanyvownersh1p from 1931 to 1942 and the
subsequent ownershfp‘b} the U.S Government continued thebfddustr1a1 use

of the property.

For convenience,. and in the discussion that follows, the historic
resources at the wharf can be assigned to the following periods of usé:
1) Pre-Wharf (pre¥17805);‘2) ke1th's Wharf (1780s-1849); 3) Marine
Railway and Ship Buildihg‘I (MRSB I)(1849-1860)} 4) Civil War (1860~
18§5); 5) Marine Raflway and Ship Buf1d1ng IT (1865-1932); 6) Ford Plant

(1932-1942); 7) Federal (1942-present):

Thé érigina1 shoreline in the project area is depictéd in Figure 3. The
first landfill activitylin this location occurred with the construct1oh
of the wharf in the late 1780s. The approximate location of the
shoreline after the wharf construct1bn 1s indicated in Figure 9. The

next major phyéica1 change to the ﬁroject area took place during the
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1910 infil1ling of Battery Cove: adjacenf to the project area. Fi{11
dating to this time period can be seen in Figure 9. The last fil1
depos1ted in the project area is connected with the construction of the

Ford ‘Plant, and the extension of the wharf under the Ford buflding.

“Although some of the plans relating to the construction of the Ford
Plant were found at the Division of Engineering and Design in
Alexandria, they did not include information on whether the surface of
the.pr&perty had beeh either graded, infilled or both. Similarly, no
other evidence of. Tand alteration activity on the surface of the wharf
was recovered. No maps except one recent city map provided elevation
data at a scale sufficient to determine the elevation of the wharf,
preventing an analysis of whether the elevation of the surface had

changed over time.
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4.0 EVALUATION OF POTENTIAL FOR SIGNIFICANT ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES

4.1 Archaeological Potential

Analysis of the data on prehistoric site 1o;at10h concluded that the
probability of a prehistoric site in the project area is 1ow._The
jdentification of potential historic archaeological resources was
derivéd from the documentary and map fesearch. In the paragraphs that
follow, the potential resources are reviewed by time period. To more
readily accommodate a p]aﬁn1ng.v1ewpoint, potential historic
Srchaeo]ogical resources will be presented in termésof whether they were
originally below the surface of the wharf (subsurface resources) or
whether they were originally on the surface of the wharf (surface

resources).

The first potenfia] subsurface resource to consider 1s any_evidence of
act191ty associated with the pre~1780 period. Evidence from this per1od
could be contained in the f111 of the wharf. It 1s known that theAf111
of the Carlyle-Dalton Wharf on the central waterfront of Alexandria
included artifacts from the earliest beriod of occupation in Alexandria,

and 1t is possfble that a similar situation exists at this-gharf.

The source of early period artifacts in the fi11 of Keith's Wharf could
be the occupants of the structures identified as "Ph1111p Alexander
Quarters". possibly situated on the bluff overlooking the wharf (Figure
3). As detailed by Miller (n.d.:9), the bluffs on which the town was

built, with their attendant trash deposits, were a major source of fill
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for the central wﬁerf area. The same s at least partially true.for the
southern waterfront. Avsimilar process of cutting down the bluff for
~use as ‘the fil1l1 -of Keith's Wharf was documented by the Alexandria
Gazette notice, referred to earlier, of a bank falling oula worker
during the construction of Keith's Wharf. Such archaeeTogieal deposits
from the pre-1780 pertod are very rare fn Alexandria (Cressey 1986:
persona]fcommunication), perhaps because they became part of theif111~

used to create waterfront land. -

Generally, 1t is more effective ‘and. efficient to study a part1cu1ar
period through deposits which have not . been removed from their origina1
context. However, in a case such as th1s. where other data are very
~scarce, fi11 deposits can provide important information on the economy

of the city that can be compared with material from other periods. -

The subsurface resource most 11ke1y to exist at the site s the,
framework ‘of the wharf 1tse1f.. Ev1dence ‘for the techn1que of its
construction may be found ‘{n several places {if a cr1b technique was
used, If the bu1khead system was used, evidence would on]y be found
along the edge_ef the wharf. The reason for the angTed. rather than the .
squafe.‘confiuuratien of the south edge of Ke1th's Wharf is unknown.
Since the crib system would have been instalied in rectangular units,

- such an angle may imply the use of the bulkhead system.

The last type of potential subsurface resource includes the artifacts

thet may have been deposfted in the silt along the edge of the wharf.
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If present, the artifécts from Asuch_‘ deposits could potentially reveal
information about'activities on the”wharf and about trade patterns
during the Keith's Wharf perfod, and possibly‘ during the MRSB and Civil
War periods'as well. It is a common phenomena to finu material in the
siit on river bottoms, including ballast and artifacts from ships, as
well as artifacts're'lating to activities that took p‘lace on the.wharfi
(Huey 1984). Such artifacts from the 1ate 1700s and early 1800s have
been found in Potomac River si1t across the river from Alexandria in.
Mary'land (Sho_mette 1986: persona'l communication) However. certain :
events occurreo 'n} the 1880s which may have ne5u1ted in the remoi1a'l -oi"'

these deposits in the p}'oject"atea through“drecig‘;i ng.

The wreck of a barge in 1889 contributed to a permanent change in the
hydrology of .the Potomac River (Shomette 1985: 280) by diverting the
current. The A'Iexandria waterfront began to silt considerabiy faster
than previous'ly. This change may have begun ear'Her since private wharf ‘
owners were dredging the areas next to their wharves as ear]y as 1875 ’
‘(Shomette 1985:282) | Shomette (1986 persona“l communication) has"'
suggested‘ thet the. east side of the 01d Ford P'lant Wharf, an__d probably
the south‘ side as ue'l'l. would c_ertainiy hai/e been dredged.' Thus, most
artifactelin the 's‘_i'lt'_mey‘ have been removed before the south si de of the -

wharf u_'as. covered by -the-'fﬂ'ling of Battery Cove.

“Potential surface resources would date to the Keith's Wharf (Figure‘ 6)

and to the MRSB II (Figures 8 and 10) perfods. It is possible that the
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configuration‘of structures and features in MRSB II are the same as in

MRSB I, but no;maps from that period contain structural information.

A structure 1ocated onAan 1836 map produced_by the Topographical
Engineering Department of the»LLS. Army kagure 6) is the only buflding
documented during the’Keith's Wharf period(1780s41849L The Tocation
of this building was at the eastern end of the wharf, approximately
under the western end of the 1932 Ford bu11ddng. Depend1ng on the
extent of disturbance from construction of the Ford building, evidence
of this structure may st111 be extant However, since the proposed
deve]opment does not 1nc1ude removal of the Ford bu11d1ng and wou]d not

affect evidence of the structure, it is not considered further.

Although various deeds suggest Keith's Wharf.was divided by streets and
a1]eys? additional- structures dating from the wharf period have not been
':documented.: No 1nformat10n has been found which suggests that such,

«structures existed.~ The deeds concern1ng the Tots in the prodect area
do not describe any bui]ding sttuated, there. A nineteenth century'
d1rectory for A[exandria (Boyd 1934) does not contain 1dst1ngs for
either;residences_or ousinesses in the prodect area'or tne surrounding
_blocks,'suggestingfthat the area was not developed to any extent until

Jater 1n the nineteenth century.

- Military resources might also be present on the property, dating from
the use of the wharf during the Civil War. No structures erected during
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this period are documented, although very little information exists for

this time period of uvse.

Potential resources dating from after the Keith's WhaArf period may
include those related to shipbuiliding after 1849, There is no mép for
this time period, but the arf‘angement of wharf features may have been
similar to those noted on the 1877 Hopk‘lns'A map (Figure 8). = On this map
severa1 shipways afé visible on the northeast and sdutheas_t portions of
the w‘harf.'»‘Severta;i other struétures also existed during this period,
1nc‘lud1-ng .,.a'.-rectaﬁgular building along the nﬁrtr_\ edgeof*the»wharf.
two small structures along the western e&ge of the proberty‘at Unionv
Street, a rectangular ‘bﬁﬂding vbetween the shibways at the northeastern
end of the wharf, and a rectangd]ér building with an addition in 1ine
with Franklin Street to the east of Union Street. Of these, the three
struétures.a‘nd shipways on the north half of the wharf (F1gures 8 and
' 10) are comp'lete1y under the Ford Plant. These will not be -affected by,

the - project and wﬂl nort be consfdered further.,__

Shipbuilding activity '1:9 the 1ast decades of the' n1neteenfh century
included railroad tfack% extendingiout onto one of the piers, mar"fn‘e
ratlways, and several sr;i.iaﬂ'serv‘lce buildings (Figure 105.' The small |
service 'buﬂd‘lbngs and shgds are aligned along thg eastern edge‘.'of Unfon

Street.

In summary, potential subsurface resources include: 1) artifacts in the

f111 of the wharf from the pre-wharf perfod and 2) the structure of
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Keitht's Wharf itself which i{s located either on the south side of the
wharf or throughout all areas of the wharf, depending of the wharf

construction. techniques.

Potential surface-resources include several strugtures'from the Marfne
Railway and Ship Bu11d1hg IT period. These resources are located in two
areas. Although the marine railway does not appear on the 1877 map
(Figure 8), there can be 1ittle doubts since the firm at that time used
the words "Mérine §a11way" in its name, that it existed then as well,
First, one or two bdf]dings were located on the south side of the wharf
in 1891 with a marine ra11wéy and a shipway (Figure 10). The major
structure in this case can Se identified as the engine room which housed
.both the engine and the capstan which pulled the ships out of the water,
along the marine railway, and onto the shipway. Second, a series of
structures a]oﬁg Unfon Stréet are depicted in 1891 (Figure 10). Thesé
are 1dentffied*a§ an office and storage shedsifor“shipbu11d1ng supplies.
Only one struéfure.:inba simi]arulocatioﬁ.but of unidentified funct1oh,‘

appears‘on the 1877 map (Figure 8).

4.2 Evidence of Previous Disturbance

| The most obvious evidence of previous disturbance of potential histor'"l:;:_
archaeological resources is the Ford Plant and the Federal bﬁ11d1ng. Ag
'1nd1Cated prévious]y. those structures under the Ford Plant are outside
of the potential impact area. However, {f thg Federal building is

removed, that area would be included in the potential impact area.
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O0f the potentfal resources on the south portion of the wharfg the ship-

way and most if not all of the Marine Railway have probably been} ‘
destroyed by, from east to west, thé boiler bufilding, quonset huts,
subsurface tanks noted on the 1941 Sanborn map, and modern subsurface
tanks. The historic engine room structure has not been affected byvany
known major disturbancés. A raflroad siding constructed through that
area (Sanborn 1941) passed just to the southeast of the structure. It
is possible that the row of structures along Union Street was disturbed

by the construction of the 1943 Federal building.

Subsurface fesQuhceslgdﬁld also have been affected’by thé construction
of the Federal building. Drawing§‘1n the Engineering and Design off1ce 
of the City of A1ekandr1a,shoh that it was on piles; thesg piles would
have benetrated into the fi11, possibly destroying sections of the wharf
structure. The donstru§t1oh of the boiler building would have had
similar effects on the.subsuﬁfaqé resources. An additfonal source of
disturbancé may'have been the placement of the underground tanks which

would have impacted the f111,,$nd possibly the structure, of the wharf.

Potgntia]]y important ré;ources most 11ke1y to be preserved are those in
the'f111.of'the wharf.'andlin'éegtiqns of the wharf's {internal
structure. On the surface, the historic engine room structure, the
office, and the storage sheds have a medium prbbability of being
presérved; The area in which these latter potential resources may be
located is depicted in F%gure 9. Their degree of pfeservation depends

on the amount of surface alteration that was undertaken when the Ford
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Plant and the Federal bufilding were built. These activities were not

recorded.

R L R T R

4.3 Potential] for Significant Archaeclogical Resources
According to the criteria established for the evaluation of significance

pursuant to a determination of eligibility for the National Register of '

Historic Places (36 CFR 60):

The quality of significance in American history,
architecture, archeology, and culture i1s present in -
districts,y sites, bufldings, structures, and
objects that possess integrity of location, design,
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and
associatfon, and: 3

A tﬁaf.are associated with évents that havé made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history; or _

B. that are associated with the 1ives of persons
sfgnificant in our past; or

C. that embody the distinctive characteristics of -

a type, period of method of construction, or that
-represent the work of a master, or that possess
high artistic values, or that represent a

. significant and distinguishable entity whose

components may lack individual d15t1nction, or

" D. that have yielded, or may be 11ke1y to y1e1d.'{. )
information important 1nAprehistqry or history.

Archaeo1og1ca1 sites in the urbah‘envirénment are most frequently
considered s1gn1f1§ant 16 accordance with Criterfon D of the National
‘Register because thelir further study‘may address current research
questions and provide information not readily obtainéble ejsewhere.

Less frequently, urban sites may also be considered significant because
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of their historical or cultural associations as defined by Criteria A

B, or C of the National Register.

The determinétion of séient1f1C'sign1f1cance; Criterion D, with regard
to archaeological resources involves both a»theorétfcally-oriented

evaluation of current fesearch questions as they apply to the study area
in question and.a substantive evaluation of the degree to which

predicted resources can provide viable analytical data from which the

~desired results can ‘be obtained. A series of important research

questions have been:estab11shed‘by Alexandria Archaeology, Office of
Historic A]exandriaf:through'a model for the archaeologfcal investigation
of changes in urban strat1f1;at10n (Cressey 1983). The model focuses on
the causes of change as expressed in the manifestation of settlement and

consumer behavioral patterns.

In a survey of Alexandria's politico-economic sectors from 1770 to 1890,

three'hajor analytical peffdds~emergedﬁf“Thesefare:‘ Mercantile

Capitalism (mid-eighteenth century), Indigenous Commercial Capftalism
(late eighteenth to mid-nineteenth century), and Industrial Capitalism

(midflafe nineteenth century to early twentieth century) (Cresséy et al.

1982:147).

The research problems of.urban stratification and differentiation, and
the subsequent differentiation of artifact patterns{"has been addressed
in Alexandria for the second and third periods defined above. The first

period, Mercantile Capftalism, might possibly be represented in the
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project area through artifacts in the original wharf fi1l. Since the

{nitial 1nf1111ng activity in the projéct area was restricted to the end

of the first period of-Capita1ism, artifacts predating the wharf
consfruct1on could aTiow comparisons among all three of the above
economic periods. It should be noted. that such.f111 is frequently not
considered a significaht.resource, since its contents are not in their
or1;1na1 context. ‘However, f1i1 deposits, especially those associated

with waterfront areas, have recently become a center of research

interest as witnessed by the May, 1986 conference, "Archaeological

Investigations of Laﬁdmaking in New York City". Information obtained

from such fill deposits have been used to study land engineering
methods, including dating and rates of infi1ling, the economic
arrangements necessary for extending land into the water, and
comparative studies of Europeaﬁ/American wharf-making procedures

(Geismar 1983; Huey 1984; Rockman et al. 1983). .

Additfona1'fnforﬁation on activities associated with the city itself may
be identified from artifacts in the fiil. Sucﬁ studies have focused'on
waterfront activities and trade patterns (Geismar 1983; Huey 1984). The
ef fectiveness of this kind of study depends 6n the location from which
the fi11 was_taken.-the'contents of the fi111, and the research problem
1dent1f1e&., Such a study 15 afded when fi11 deposits are from a .

restricted period, as is probably the case here.

Part of the Alexandria urban archaeological model addresses the

sectoral ization and differentfation processes. As industrialization and
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capitalism led éo fncreasing differences in wealth and power between

groupg,'such groups became separated from each other physically
(sectofalization) to prevent conflict, and consumer behavior began to
diverge (differentiation) as the gulf between groups became larger

(Cressey 1983:10). Another factor in sectoralization 1s the increasing

'separation of {industrial, residential, and commercial activities. The

process of sectoralization is described using a Core—Periphéry
Schematfc. showing a central core where wealth and power are
concentrated.'ringed by semi-periphery and periphery areas. beups in
urban areas can be ﬁTaced within this model, and viewed on the basis of
"distance-from-center" as well as "distance-from-power" (Creséey

1983:11).

TheAprodect area has continually been located in the periphery, with a
brief Tné1usion'in the semi-periphery around 1850 (Cressey et al. 1982).
Even wheﬁ the wharf was f1rst.constructed,tn the 1780s, {t was
considered to be outside the central harbor of the town. The only other
Alexandria wharf .to be examined archaeologically is the Caf1y1e-Da1ton
wharf, located at the center of the waterfront. A comparison of wharf
construction and;%111 techniques between the centra1'waterfr6nt énd the
periphéry wou]dig}ovide 1hportant'1nformat1on on the éimf]arities and
d1fferénces betﬁéeh the two wharves. . Such a comparison could inform our
understand1ng of the development of the waterfront in both the center
and the periphery of Alexandria. Potential remains of Kefth's Wharf

within the project area may provide such an opportunity.
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= In Alexandria the change from Commercial Capitalism to Industrial

%Q- Capitalism occurred around the mid-nineteenth century (Cressey 1983:10).

S : ‘

; § This coincided with the change in use of the project area in 1849, with
the beginning of the Marine Railway period. Although'the use of the
project area remained the same through the Industrial Period,

information on changidg technologies used in shipbuilding may be extant
in the archaeological recerd. Such evidence would contribute to an
understanding of an important Alexandria industry in the last half of
the nineteeﬁth §entury. this being the industry that produced the ships

that were the mainsfay of commercial transportation on the river.

In summary, if archaeological resources are present in thelprcdect area,
they have the potential to provide information on a number of important
research questions including, but not necessarily limited to, the

following:

° What 1nform5t1on do arfifacts from fhe Mercantile Capifa11sm
period which méy'be in the Qharf f111:prov1de about differences
between tﬁat period and the two succeeding ones? |

° What specific technologies were used to create the efghteenth
century wharf, in terms of both structural and 1nf1111ng iechniques?

) How do these techniques compare with those u;ed at the CarIyle-
Dalton wharf, 1ocated in the center of the waterfront, and what do‘

they reveal about the economic differences between the central

waterfront and {ts periphery?
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° What do the sﬁipbui]ding femafns reveal about changing technologies

and land use during the industrial period?
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5.0 EVALUATION OF POTENTIAL EFFECTS OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
| - | K .

5.1 Anticipated Construction Activities

The précise t;pes and.1ocat19ns of construction activity cannot be
discussedigecause speciffé»p]ans fof the prpject have not been
finalized. However, information from the developer's aéent (Artemel
1986) suggests that certain kfnds of ground d1éturb1n§ activities méy be
1ikely or necessary. For example, it is 11keTy that the wharf surface

will be prepared for construction through the removal of the current

~surfacing material and possib]y; since 1t is not level, through gradfng.
Currently, it is anti;ipated that new structures will have pile

foundations and that ditches w111 be excavated for the underground

utilities. Additiona]]y. amarina méy be constructed in the area of

the extant boiler building. During this activity, a rectangular area

will be removed from the original wharf and the f111 placed at the

southeast corner of the property to create a more regular shoreline. -

5.2 Potential Effects

A_potentja] direct effect may result from the seal ing of " any

significant cultural resources below the new construction (Larson 1986),

such as occurred on the north half of the wharf when the twentieth -
century bu11d1ngs were constructed. Additionally, surface resources *
(Figure 9) may be disturbed through the preparation of the surface of

the site for consfrdction and possibly through the excavation of utility

trenches.
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Predicted~subsurface resources may a]so'be disturbed by the placement of
piles, the construction of a marina, and the excavation of utility
trenches. In light of current_knoﬁledge of the‘proposed development, it
can be pfediEted‘that the piles may impact only smail hfeasvin the wharf
fi1l. The effect of the piles on evidence of wharf construction
technology w11l depend on whether the cr%b or bulkhead hethod was used.
If a bulkhead had been placed around the perimeter of the wharf, the

only part that may be affected would be where the proposed pile system

- {ntersectéd-the bulkhead. .If-the cribbfhg system were .used, 1t is

1ikely ‘that a larger ndmber of piles uohlﬂ‘intersect and affect the
wooden framework.f‘Obviousiyi*the exténtAofﬁdisturbahcé would also
depend on the number and sfze of pfles. Current plans for the

construction of a marina in the area of the boiler bu11d1ng will also

.result in the disturbance of the wharf structure and the fi11 of the

- wharf.

R I T A S R
N -

U111ty trenches-are 11kely to disturb.the £i11-of the wharf.: Depending - -
ontheir depth, they may mix distinct fi11 _,;;I ayers, :théreby destroy1n'g
‘the stratigraphy of the site. - Depending on»thé-nature of ‘wharf

-construction, the utility trenches may disturb substantial sections of

that pafticq]ar'résource. or may have 1ittle effect upon it.

‘This discussion of potentfa1.effects is based on currently available-

information on proposed construction. The actual effects will depend on

the presence or absence of significant resources and the destign and

kinds of~cbnstruction techniques ultimately implemented. -
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6.0 SUMMARY AND RECOWENDATIONS

6.‘1V1 Summary

A review of existing 1iterature and the prepa'ration of models of
hi.storic and‘prehistoric site locations have demonstrated that
potentt a]'ly_signif‘lcant cultural resources may exist in-the proj.ect
area. These may: include both surface and subsurface‘_h1stor1c‘
archaeological resources. No preh1ster1c resources are known for the
area ahd‘the probab1]1ty that any exist s Tow. Any surface historic
resources are probab'ly restricted to the Marine Rafiway and. Sh1p

Building. II period (possib‘ly MRSB I as well), - and are limited to

- specific locations on the sur”facelof athe wharf. The subsurface

resources are not as localized, and probably date from the Pre-wharf.

~ Keith's Wharf, and MRSB I and II periods.

.ZBemmme.ndm_Qns_and_Elmning_Qansi.deLaths

Since the preceed‘lng ana‘lysis has 1nd1cated that the proj ect area has -

the potent1 al to conta1n s1gn1f1cant archaeo‘log‘lca‘l resources, it is

.recommended that the f1rst priority. before the project design 1is

f1na‘l 1zed, is to conduct a Phase II eva]uation in consu'ltation with the
State Historic' Preservation Officer (SHPO). * The purpose of the'
evaluation wou]d be :to confirm or refute the existence of significant‘
resources an_d to determine‘the‘lr el igi bﬂ ity or ineligibility to the
Nat1onia1 Register of Historic Places. In conducting such an evaluation,
it.would be necessary to establish three points: 1) the integrity of

extant archaeological resources,..2) the boundaries of. the.resources, -
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and 3) the significance of such resources in 1ight of the National
Register criteria. The resultant data would provide a basis for the
SHPO to deterhine'the National Register eiigibi]ity oflarchaeo1ogica1
resources within the project area. |

i
If it is found that no significant archaeological resources are present
in the project area, or that they do not possess integrity, then no

additional consideration of archaeological resources would be necessary.

'If sigﬁificant cu]turalvresources.e]igib]e for the Natfonal Register do

exist{»a determinatfon’of effect would be made 1n consultation with the -
SHPO. The effecte;a_preposed-undertaking will heye,upon;a“cu1tura1
resource are determined by both.thetdistinguiSEihg eiements of the
resource and the design and consequence of the undertaking. Effects to

cultural resources are evaluated with regard to Criteria of Effect and

Criteria of Adverse Effect established by the Advisory Codnci] on.

| Historic"Pceservation 36 CFR 8003). . An undertaking 1s considered to.

have an effect if it "causes or may cause any change“.in the qua]ity of -
theuucharacteristics that qua]ify the property -to, meet the criteria -of

the National Register" (36 CFR 800.3[a]).v Since effects are based upon
characteristics which contribute to the significance and Nationa1
Register_e]igibility.of a property, effects occur only to properties

which are eligible for the Register.

Effects may include positive or negative changes and may be direct or

indirect. Direct effects are often construction related and occur at

. the same time and place as_the undertakingnhglndirect,effects are . ..
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normally long term or further removed from the project in time and
space. Adverse effects océur when the project results in detrimental
changes, either direct or indirect, to a Register-eligible property's
sfgnificanf historical, afchftectura1;.archaeo]ogical, or cultural

characteristics.

One option for obtaining a determination of "No Adverse Effect™ is to

- design the project so that there are no, of minimal, direct or indirect

ef facts. If -this fs not feasible, a ™o Adverse Effect" determination
can be achieved throﬁgh.the 1mp1ementatioh of a professionally adequate

research design which would recover information from the resources to

mitigate the effect of the undertaking.

The approach recommended above is routinely applied in situations such
as the current one and 1s in keeping with regu]étions of the Advisory

Council on Historic Preservation (ACHP) (36 CFR 800.4). This approach

" allows it to ‘be known before construction what level of effort will be

sufficient to meet applicable responsibilities under'the'cu1tura1

resources legislation and regulations. Furthermore, the information

-gathered by the Phase II operation will allow effective‘p1ann1ng so that

construction schedules are not impacted.

Another option for obtaining a determination of ™o Adverse Effect™ may
be through a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between the developer,

usuaIIy-g‘Federa1 Agency, but occasfonally a private corporation or

ndividual, the SHPO, and the ACHP. Such an agreement would allow the
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project to proceed directly from Phaéé I (location and 1dentification)
to Phdse III (data recovery). However, in Virginia this usually only
occurs {f a site 1s obviously eligible to the National ﬁegister of
Historic Places and does not require additional work to dbcument its
boundaries}.depth. integrity and ability to contribute information on
important problems in history or prehistory (Larson 1986). A "No
Adverse Effect™ dgtermination is awarded in such a case when the
deve]oper.cqmm1t§ the resources to produce and 1mplemént a

professionally adequate research design.

‘In summary, the first approach, the Phase II testing and evaluation of
the potential archaeological resources, 1is recommended. Federal
regulations (36 CFR 800.4(3)) require that each'site ﬁe evaluated for
eligibility to the NatiénaT Register. Phase II evaluative testing is
necessary. to determine eligibility, to identify more precisely the
effect of the deve]opment._and to more appropriately determine, if

hecessary.‘eff1cient mitigation strategies and techniques..

The reasonsifor”thg recpwmgndatién are(two'fojd: ‘i) A Phase II
operation wijl pfovide éua%icient 1nform§tion‘t6 plan for avoid&nce;
preservation, or~mftigat;on of extant and é]igibTe archaeological
resources, 1f any are indeed present within the project area. Such a
plan can be 1ntegr§ted 1nfo the development and construction schedule to
-avoid or minimize any 1mpa¢t on the schedule. 2) Since no subsurface
fesf1ng has been undertaken to determine the presence or extent of

- possible archaeological resources, the data necessary for a consensus
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determination of eligibiity or an adequate data recovery program are not
avaflable. Without this {information, it seems unlikely that a

Memorandum of Agreement would be negotiated.

6.3 Recommended Phase II Jesting and Evaluation Program

One of the goals specified in the Scope of Work was to provide an
"acceptab]é’fie1d résearch design" for possible Phase II evaluative
testing. The Phase Istignificanée evaluation should address the
fo]iowing potential resources through both Site—specific historical
research and archaéo]og1ca1 fie]d:testing: 1) the two areas with
surface structures, now below ground, 2) the whérf structure, and 3)
artifacts in the fi11 of the wharf. The general policy of the State
Historic Preservation Office is to evaluate the significance of
resources that may be sealed by modern construction in order that the

effects of the project can better be determined (Larson 1986).

_Sihce the current éspha1f parkihg“lot'effectively masks any'evidence‘of
earlieﬁ structures, it 1s‘recommended that p1§cement of test excavations
to evaluate the specified resources adequately should be based upon
1nformatioﬁ‘from the existing map research. Test uﬁits should be
trenéhes df variable']ength and width depending both on scientific and
safety considerations.._The initial step 1n the excavation process
should be the removal of the asphalt parking lot in the trench locations
Zith a backhoe. . Machine excavation should proceed unt11‘features‘or
deposits requiring hand excavation are encountered. The engine house-

area should be tested with a trench oriented north~south through the
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structure. The row of structures along Union Street should be tested
with one excavation through the office and one through the shed area,

north of the office.

Two loci should be the focus of the testing of subsurface resources.
Both could provide information on wharf construction and artifact
content of the fi1l. Two trenches should be located perpendicular and
‘adjacent to_Union-Street fn an attempt to determine the presence of
deposits-froﬁ the pre—1780_pef10d._ The area closest to the shore would
'have been filled in first and may contain f111 from the b1uffs.‘ The
second érea should also have two trenches, these located perpendicular
to the southern edge of -the wharf in order to locate and define its
natﬁre. This fi11 should also be examined for artifactual ev1dén¢e from

the early perfiod of Alexandria's history.

It 1sinot pracf1ca1 to recbver'é11 artifacts from the 1arge volume of
earth whichlshouid be excavated in these operations.. Howevef. sémb]es
of artifacts sﬁou]d be cq]iected from’each'gtfatuﬁ fo {dentify jts date
and composition. Wet sedimenfs should be water screened to enhance the
'reééyery of artifacts. All artifacts recovéreq should be properly
_prd?en1enced as to horizontal location and natural or cultural strata
and'feétqres. 'The-stratigraphic'profile of each trench should be
" recorded andAthe texture and.color of the soils described according to.

. standard textural class names (e.g. Olson 1976), and Munsell soil color

chart designations.
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Artifacts should Be cleaned according to their nature and their state of
preservation. Stone, ceramic, glass, bone and shell artifacts whose
gurfaces are stable should be gently washed in warm water. Items of the
above material classes whose surfaces are not stable, as well as metal
Ttems, should be dry brushed. Organic artifacts that are water logged,
such as leather, bone, wood, and shell should be kebt damp or field
étab11ized until preservation'measuresfcan be 1mp1emented in the
laboratory. - All materials should be classified by time period,

material, = and function, where possible.

An appropriate repository for the artifacts is the Alexandria
Archaeology Office of Historic Alexandria. The AAO is a recognized
repository which conforms to state and federal curation standards. The

artifacts should be‘prepared for curation in a format compatible with

‘that used'by the AAO, and a state site form should be completed and

‘registered with the AAO and the Virginia Research Center for

Archaeology. .

It i{s anticipated that the feport of the Phase I1 investigations would
be approximately 50 pages 1n length and wou]déful]y document the
purpose._theoretical-framework:;previous,research:;methods, and results

of the investigation.. It is further anticipated that the final report

" would include, but not necessarily be 11m1ted'to. the following

elements:
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an executive summary or abstract including specific identifications

of sfgnificant areas and recommendations

‘a statement of the theoretical framework of the investigation

a summary of the historical research and comparative information to
provide a context for evaluating significance
a review of research questions which may be addressed by the

resources.

a detailed description of the field and background research

methods and their applicability

a discussion of the results, 1nc1Uding a review of the stratigraphy -

of each test area, construction details of the wharf, and artifact

-analysis

an evaluation of the significance of. the resources

recommendations concerning resources requiring further

‘investigation, preservation or mitigation

a cbmp1ete 1ist of references and 1ndfv1duals consul ted
photographs of important features and artifacts
maps'of excavation units and art1fact locations

measured profiles of excavation units and'features. as appropriate

In conclusfon, the hisfor1ca1 research undertaken for thig fnvestigation
has 1nd1cat§d‘that the deve]opmeﬁta1 history of the 01d Ford Plant
property both.paral1e1s and contrasts with the land use patterhs of
other wharves in the center of Aﬂexandf1a.' fhe research also suggests
the presence of potentially significant archaeological resources which

may reflect this development. Accordingly, it is recommended that Phase
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IT testing and sign1f1can'ce evaluation be undertaken to determine the
existence and extent of the predicted ar‘chaeo’l‘ogica1 resources and to

determine their eligibility or ineligibility to the National Regi ster of

Historic Places.
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PUBLIC RECORDS

 Alexandria Deeds:

Liber D, p. 4, 18, 24, 47, 54. Alexander to Harper, 1789.
Liber I, p. 329. Keith to Richardson, 1797. '
Liber L, p. 117. Harper to Keith, 1798. ’
Liber L, p. 121. Agreement between Harper and Keith re:
additional streets, 1798. '
' p. 145, Alexander to Keith, 1797.
p. 155. Alexander to Keith, 1797.
p. 219. - Harper to Vowell & Vowell, 1798.
Liber B, p. 364. Harper to Harper, 1802.
~Liber I, p..179. Harper to Ladd, 1803.
Liber Gs p. 241. Plat of Alexandria, 1804. _ ,
Liber G, p.-399. Application of Keith and Potts for Ferry License,

Liber T, p. 1. - Keith to Janney, 1810.
Liber W, p. 1. Vowell to Yowell, 1812. :
Liber K» p. 575. Harper to Harper, et al., 1798.
Liber L, p. 164, Alexander to Keith, 1798.
Liber F» p. 131. Harper to Harper, 1803. '
Liber K/3, p. 441. Vowell to Alexandria Marine Raflroad Company,
1849. ' '
Liber S/3, p. 420. Keith, estate division, 1857.
Liber 14, p. 83. Alexandria Marine Raflroad and Shipbuiiding Co.
to Agnew, 1880. . :
_Liber 77, p. 123. Livingstone to Aquia Creek Quarries (G.W. Stone
- . Co.)» 1923, ‘ , _ ‘ .
‘Liber 109, p. 70. G.W. Stone Co. to Ford Motor Co., 1931.
~ .Liber 195, p. 241. ' Ford Motor Co. to U.S. Government, 1942.
‘Liber 1153, p. 298. U.S. Govermnment to Cook Inlet Region, Inc.,
’ 1985. : - :




